I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Schnitzer West, Appellant and Respondent below, respectfully 

petitions this Court for Review. 

II. INTRODUCTION 

This case involves a significant jurisdictional issue under 

Washington state l.and use law and satisfies the standards for granting 

review in Rule of Appellate Procedure ("RAP") 13.4. 

In 1995, the state legislature adopted LUPA, which replaced the 

writ of certiorari as the mechanism to challenge local land use decisions 

that relate to specific property. LUPA is intended to establish uniform, 

expedited appeal procedures that result in consistent, predictable judicial 

review of site-specific land use decisions. 

The legislature established the Growth M<mugement Hearings 

Boards ("Growth Boards") for an entirely different purpose. Growth 

Boards have exclusive jurisdiction to review challenges alleging that 

broadly-applicable, land use policy decisions violate the Growth 

Management Act. 

In this case, the Puyallup City Council adopted a site-specific land 

use decision{Ordinance 3067, App. E) that changed the development 

standards on a single tract of property in order to prevent a specific 

development 
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proposed by Schnitzer West. It is clear, based on statements made by 

Council members in open hearing, that the sole purpose of Ordinance 

3067 was to stop Schnitzer's development proposal. It was not a 

generally-applicable policy decision. lt did not apply to any other 

property in the City. 

Despite the fact that Ordinance 3067 was a site-specitlc land use 

decision, the Council adopted it under the guise oflegislative a1.1thority. 

The Council did this for at least three reasons: (1) it allowed it to violate 

the City's own site-specific rezone standards; (2) it allowed it to violate 

the Appearance of Fairness doctrine; and (3) it allowed it to avoid the 

more stringent standards of review that apply to site-specific land use 

decisions under LUP A. 

Schnitzer appealed the City Council's adoption of Ordinance 3067 

to the superior court under LUP A. The City moved to dismiss, claiming 

that it should he reviewed by the Growth Board. The superior court 

considered extensive briefing and oral argument related to subject matter 

jurisdiction and decided that Ordinance 3067 was a site-specific rezone 

subject to LUPA. Then, the superior court reached the merits, concluding 

that the City violated its own rezone procedures and the Appearance of 

Fairness doctrine, and that Ordinance 3067 was a discriminatory spot

zone. Accordingly, the superior court invalidated the Ordinance. 
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On appeal, Division II of the Court of Appeals did not reach the 

merit9. Instead, it concluded that becatL9e the City Council did notfile an 

application for the rezone adopted in Ordinance 3067, the Ordinance 

could not be a site-specific rezone subject to LUP A jurisdiction. The fact 

that the City Council did not sub111it a site-specific rezone application to 

itse!fwas the sole basis for the CoUli's conclusion. See Schnitzer West, 

LLCv. City ~fPuyallup, et. a!., No. 47900-1-ll, at 8 (holding Ordinance 

3067 was not a site-speciflc rezone because "no 'specific party' applied 

for or otherwise requested a rezone"). 

In a lengthy and articulate dissent, Chief Judge Bjorgennoted that 

the majority decision conflicts with recent Supreme Court decisions, and 

that the majority's reliat1ce on the word "application," would "sacrifice 

long-standing case law designed to ensure the proper type of review on the 

doubtful basis of a single term capable of a range of meanings." I d. at 17-

1 R. Chief Judge Bjorgen concluded, based on the clear tenns of the statute, 

controlling case law, context, and the distinction between site-specific and 

legislative rezones, that Ordinance 3067 was a land use decision subject to 

LUP A. Judge Bjorgcn is correct. 

The majority opinion has caused significant concern among 

Washington state's land use bar. Two of the most far-reaching 

implications are: (1) anyone who wants to appeal a local land use decision 
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will be forced to file separate appeals in the superior comt and before the 

Growth Board, because jurisdiction is now unclear; and (2) local 

jurisdictions will be free to make discriminatory, site-specific land usc 

decisions withont being subject to the more rigorous standard of review 

that applies to these decisions-simply by electing not to file an 

application. The majority opinion turns LUPA on its head by creating a 

less uniform, unpredictable system of review for land use decisions. 

As explained in this Petition, the majority opinion conflicts with 

published appellate decisions, it presents a significant jurisdictional 

question, and it involves an issue of substantial public interest that should 

be determined by the Supreme Court. Schnitzer respectfully requests that 

this Petition for Review be granted. 

III. CITATION TO THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Schnitzer seeks review of Schnitzer West, LLC v. City of Puyallup, 

et. a/., No. 47900-1-II, filed by Division II on October 18,2016. App. A. 

IV. ISSUES PllliSENTED FOR REVIEW 

Issue No. 1: Is a rezone adopted by a city council that is confined 

to a specific tract, is not an implementation of a comprehensive plan 

amendment, is not a generally-applicable text amendment, and is made in 

the context of a specific development proposal, a site-specific land use 
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decision subject to review under the Land Use Petition Act, despite the 

fact that the council did not submit a rezone application to itself? 

Issue No. 2: When a city council rezones a specific tract of 

property for the sole purpose of thwarting a private development proposal, 

and the rezone is adopted violation of local rezone procedmes and the 

state Appearance of Fairness doctrine, should the rezone be invalidated? 

Issue 3: Should the Supreme Court accept review o.f this Petition 

because it presents a jurisdictional issue that is of significant concern to 

Washington state land use attorneys, and the practical result is that neither 

the superior cou1i nor the Growth Board has jurisdiction to review site

specific rezones initiated by local jurisdictions? 

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Factual Background Preceding Adoption of Ordinance 3067 

This case involves an approximately 22-acre property ("Prope1ty") 

previously owned by Neil and Lore Van Lierop located near the 

intersection of East Pioneer Road and Shaw Road in the City of Puyallup 

("City"). The Property was historically used by the Van Lierop family for 

daffodil farming, but it has been industrially-zoned for several years. 

Schnitzer West, LLC, a Seattle-based real estate company, acquired the 

Property with the intent to develop a light industrial warehouse 

("Project"). 
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In early 2013, Schnitzer submitted a Comprehensive Plan 

amendment and rezone request to the Puyallup City Council to convert 

part of the Property from one industrial designation to another, which 

would allow the entire Property to have the same industrial zoning 

designation and allow for one contiguous development. Clerk's Papers 

("CP") 319. The City Council approved the Comprehensive Plan 

amendment and rezone in November 2013. CP 317-318. 

Only weeks thereafter, a newly-elected Council majority took steps 

to reverse the decision of the previous CounciL First, it adopted an 

emergency development moratorium specifically directed at the Property. 

CP 458. The ostensible purpose of this moratorium was to allow time to 

consider whether to extend the City's Shaw-East Pioneer Overlay zone 

("SPO Zone'') to several parcels north of East Pioneer Avenue, including 

the Property, which were annexed into the City in 2012. 

However, as one Council memher observed at the moratorium 

hearing, the moratorium was actually "personal retribution against 

Schnitzer"-the only entity with a viable development proposal in the 

Shaw-East Pioneer area. CP 463, TR 78:17. Another new Council 

member described the "emergency" basis for the moratorium as follows: 

"do[] this now before the sale [to Schnitzer] closes." CP 462, TR 56:11. 
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The purpose of the moratorium was to prevent development of the 

Schnitzer Property. 

The new Council's second step was to adopt Ordinance 3067 

("Ordinance"), a site-specific rezone ordinance that applied solely to the 

Propetiy. CP 200. The Council characterized the new Ordinance as an 

"extension" of the existing SPO Zone, but that characterization is not 

accurate. The original SPO Zone applied only to commercial properties 

and consisted almost solely of design regulations, whereas Ordinance 

3067 applied only to the Schnitzer Property and imposed significant 

building size restTictions unknown in any other zone in the City

restrictions that would render Schnitzer's proposed Project infeasible. 

Although the Ordinance was a site-specific, quasi-judicial rezone, 

the Council adopted it under the guise oflegislative action so that it could 

avoid the procedures mandated by City Code and state law for adopting 

site-specific rezones, including the pTOcedural and substantive 

requirements of the Appearance of Fairness statute, Chapter 42.36 RCW. 

Accordingly, several Council members who had exhibited actual bias and 

prejudgment against the Project voted on the Ordinance. Notably, three 

Council members chose not to attend the meeting in protest of what they 

viewed as arbitrary, discriminatory action on the part of the new majority. 
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B. Superior Court Invalidation of Ordinance 3067 

Schnitzer appealed the Ordinance to Pierce County Superior Cmui 

under LUPA. After conducting a thorough review of the record and 

considering extensive argument from the parties, the superior court issued 

a detailed letter mling ("Ruling") on Jtme 18, 2015 concluding that the 

Ordinance was a sitc.-spccific rezone subject to review under LUPA, that it 

was adopted without following required procedures, and that it was an 

illegal, discriminatory spot-zone. CP 676-680. 

C. The Court of Appeals Majority Opinion Reversing the 
Superior Court, and the Dissenting Opinion 

The City appealed the superior court's decision to Division II of 

the Comt of Appeals. The majority reversed the superior court, concluding 

that the Ordinance could not meet the definition of a "site-specific rezone" 

subject to LUPA because the Council did not file an application for the 

rezone. This reasoning was based entirely on a misreading of dicta in 

Spokane County v. E. Washington Growth Mg;mt. Hrg's Bd., 176 Wn. 

App. 555, 309 P.3d 673, review denied, 179 Wn.2d 1015, 318 P.3d 279 

(20 14) (Spokane County II). 

As Chief Judge Tom Bjorgen noted in his dissent, neither Spokane 

County IL nor any other authority cited in the majority opinion, holds that 

a rezone initiated by local government can never be subject to review 

under LUP A. Indeed, such a conclusion would turn LUP A on its head by 
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allowing local jurisdictions to evade judicial review for land use decisions. 

Chief Judge Bjorgen 's dissent evinced strong disagreement with 

the majority opinion, noting that "every element of the extension of the 

SPOto the Sclmitzer parcels speaks to its site-specific nature": it was "not 

a text amendment applicable throughout the zoning district," it "neither 

involves nor required a comprehensive plan amendment," and it was 

clearly site-specific, as it "carves [the Schnitzer] parcels away from 

similarly situated ones," Schnitzer West, LLC, at 13- 14. Judge Bjorgen 

also noted that context compels the conclusion that this was a site-specific 

rezone, observing that "both the scope and purpose of extending the SPO 

onto Schnitzer's three parcels shows that it was not an adoption of 

legislative or area-wide policy, but rather a rezone of a specific, relatively 

small property in the context of a development proposal on that property .. 

. it is tmmistakably site-specific." ld. at 14. 

Ultimately, Judge Bjorgen provided the following analysis: 

Whether a rezone is proposed by a property owner, a neighbor or 
the local government has little to do with these distinctions. If, as 
here, the rezone is confined to a specific tract, is not an 
implementation of a comprehensive plan amendment, it not a text 
amendment applicable generally to a zoning district, involves the 
application of existing law to fact, and is made in the context of a 
specific development proposal, it is adjudicatory <md merits the 
type of review reserved for administrative adjudications. 
Similarly, we should not conclude that by using the term 
"application" in RCW 36.70C.020(1) the legislature intended to 
abandon these distinctions for measures proposed by a 
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governmental entity. Such a conclusion would sacrifice long
standing case law designed to ensure the proper type of review on 
the doubtf11l basis of a single tenn capable of a range of meanings. 
This doubt is underlined by Spokane County's use of "request," 
not application" in its description set out above of a site-specific 
rezone. 

!d. at 17- 18, citing Spokane County II, 176 Wn. App. at 570. This 

analysis is accurate and consistent with controlling authority. 

VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

Rule of Appellate Procedure ("RAP") 13.4 outlines four types of 

cases in which a party may seek discretionary review of a Court of 

Appeals decision: 

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a 
decision of the Supreme Court; 

(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a 
published decision of the Court of Appeals; 

(3) If a significant question oflaw under the Constitution of the 
State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or 

( 4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest 
that should be determined by the Supreme Court. 

Standards (1), (2) and (4) are satisfied here. Ordinance 3067 is a site-

specific land liSe decision subject to LUP A. The majority decision 

conflicts with published appellate decisions and presents a significant 

question of Jaw that should be reviewed by the Supreme Court. 
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A. Ordinance 3067 is a Site-Specific Rezone Subject to LUPA. 

A "land use decision" is "a final detennination by a local 

jurisdiction's body or officer with the highest level of authority to make 

the determination, including those with authority to hear appeals." RCW 

36.70C.020(2). Included in the definition of"land use decision" is "[a]n 

application for a project permit or other governmental approval required 

by law before real property may be ... developed ... but excluding 

applications for legislative approvals such as area-wide rezones and 

annexations." RCW 36.70C.020(2)(a). A "project permit" includes "site

specific rezones authorized by a comprehensive plan ... " RCW 

36.70B.020(4). 

The Ordinance is a land use decision as defined in RCW 

36. 70C.020(2)(a). The decision was made by the City Council, the body 

with the highest level of decision-making authority in the City. Puyallup 

Municipal Code ("PMC") 1.10.010. It was a "final" determination 

because there is no administrative appeal right to a City Council decision. 

PMC 20.10.035; RCW 36.70C.020. Finally, it was a "site-specific rezone 

authorized by the comprehensive plan" because it rezoned a specific tract 

of property at the request of specific parties and did not include a 

comprehensive plan amendment. 
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A site-specific rezone is a change in the zone designation of a 

'specific tract' at the request of 'specific parties.' Wood~ v. Kittitas 

County, 162 Wn.2d 597, 174 P.3d 25 (2007) quoting, Cathcart-Maltby

Clearview Cmty. Council v. Snohomish County, 96 Wn.2d 201,212, 634 

P.2d 853 (1981); see also, Raynes v. City of Leavenworth, 118 Wn .. 2d 237, 

248, 821 P.2d 1204 (1992), citing R. Settle, Washington Land Use and 

Environmental Law and Practice§ 2.11 (1983). 

The Ordinance meets all the requirements for a site-specific 

rezone. First, the Ordinance changed the zoning designation of the 

Property. Before the Ordinance was adopted, the Property was zoned ML, 

which pem1itted development of a 470,000 sq. ft. warehouse. The new 

Overlay adopted in the Ordinance amended the zoning map to impose a 

125,000 sq. ft. building limitation, dramatically altering the ML zoning 

designation. CP 203. The new Overlay applies only to the Property. 

The superior court recognized that "the fact that the zoning 

classification itself, ML, did not change as a result of the Ordinance does 

not change the analysis, as the Ordinance creates an overlay which 

significantly reduces the type of development that can take place on that 

pmticular ML-zoned property and that reduction does not apply lo any 

other similarly ML-zoned property within the City ... " CP 679. The 
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City's choice to retain the ML zoning label does not mean it did not alter 

the underlying zoning standards. 

Second, the Ordinance applied solely to a specific tract. Although 

the Property is approximately 20 acres and contains three separate parcels, 

it is he.ld under common ownership and proposed for one coordinated 

development. The superior court conectly concluded that the Ordinance 

"was clearly directed at a specific site." CP 677. 

Third, the rezone was initiated by a specific party-the City 

Council. The fact that the Ordinance was initiated by a legislative body, as 

opposed to a private party, does not change the fact that it was a site

specific rezone. PMC 20.11.005 provides that the following entities can 

initiate site-specific rezones: "persons or agencies, including owners, 

bona fide agents, the commission and the council." Accordingly, the 

Co1mcil, like private property owners, can initiate site-specific rezones. 

The majority based its holding solely on the fact that "no specific 

patiy applied for a change in the zoning classification of the Schnitzer 

Property." Schnitzer West, LLC, at 8. This holding-that a city-initiated 

rezone can never be deemed site-specific because there is no application

defies common sense. Moroever, the cases cited by the majority, Spokane 

County II and Woods, do not support its holding. The question whether a 
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rezone must be initiated by a party other than the local government was 

not addressed in Spokane County !!. 

Curiously, the majority disregards the express holding in Spokane 

County II, which controls here: a site-specific rezone is a project permit 

approval under LUPA if it is authorized by a then-existing comprehensive 

plan; if the rezone implements a comprehensive plan amendment, it is 

subject to review by the Growth Board. Spokane County II, 176 Wn. App. 

at 570. Ordinance 3067 was authorized by the City's comprehensive plan. 

This fact is dispositive under the cases discussed below. 

B. The Decision Conflicts with Published Appellate Decisions, 
Which Hold That Rezones Authorized by the Comprehensive 
Plan Are Site-Specific Land Use Decisions Subject to LUPA. 

A number of recent published appellate decisions have established 

a clear test to determine whether a rezone is a projectpennit approval 

subject to LUPA, as opposed to a legislative decision subject to Growth 

Board review. The test is this: if a rezone does not require a 

comprehensive plan amendment, it is a site-specific land use decision 

subject to review under LUPA. If a rezone does require a comprehensive 

amendment, it is a legislative decision subject to review under the GMA. 

In Spokane County If, Division Ill of the Court of Appeals 

considered whether a rezone that required an amendment to the County's 
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comprehensive plan was a "project-permit decision" subject to LUPA, 

holding: 

We hold a site-specific rezone is a project permit approval under 
LUPA if it authorized by a then-existing comprehensive plan and, 
by contrast, is an amendment to a development regulation under 
GMA if it implements a comprehensive plan amendment. 

Spokane County 11, 176 Wn. App. at 572. The Court explained that if the 

rezone and comprehensive plan amendment are "inexorably and 

intertwined" and "the rezone was premised on and carried out the 

comprehensive plan amendment," the rezone was "not a project permit 

approval because under LUPA because the then-existing comprehensive 

plan did not authorize it." I d. at 571. This holding is consistent with the 

legislative intent behind LUPA and GMA. 

ln Kittitas County v. Kittitas County Conservation Coalition, I 76 

Wn. App. 38,308 P.3d 745 (2013), the Court of Appeals reached the same 

conclusion. In that case, the comt considered several actions taken by the 

Board of County Commissioners to facilitate a truck stop development, 

which included a combination of comprehensive plan amendments and 

rezone actions. Significantly, the rezones would not have been possible 

without amendments to the comprehensive plan. Again, the Court held 

that whether the rezone was "authorized by the comprehensive plan" is the 
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dispositive factor in determining whether the rezone was subject to appeal 

under LUP A or the GM A: 

Considering all, we hold a site-specific rezone is a project permit 
approval under LUPA if it is authorized by a then-existing 
comprehensive plan and, by contrast, is an amendment to a 
development regulation under the GMA if it implements a 
comprehensive plan amendment. In sum, the superior court erred 
because the bearings board had subject matter jurisdiction to 
review [the] rezone for compliance with both the GMA and SEPA. 
See RCW 36.70A.280(l)(a); former RCW 36.70A.290(2). 

I d. at 52, citing RCW 36.70B.020(4). Tbis holding affirms the key test: if 

a site-specific rezone is adopted in conjunction with a comprehensive plan 

amendment, it is subject to review by the Growth Boards. If not, it is a 

site-specific rezone subject to review under LUPA. 

Spokane County If and Kittitas County align with the Supreme 

Court's earlier decision in Woods v. Kittitas County, 162 Wn.2d 597, 174 

P.3d 25 (2005). In Woods, three landowner-companies applied for a

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