RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Dec 19, 2016, 2:53 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals No. 47900-1-II)

SCHNITZER WEST, LLC, a Washington limited liability company,

Respondent,

v.

CITY OF PUYALLUP, a Washington municipal corporation,

Appellant,

and

NEIL ARTHUR VAN LIEROP, an individual, and VAN LIEROP INVESTMENT COMPANY, INC., a Washington company, and VAN LIEROP BULB FARMS, INC., a Washington Company,

Additional Parties.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW TO THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

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

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

The standards governing the Supreme Court's acceptance of discretionary review of a Court of Appeals decision are enumerated at RAP 13.4(b). In relevant part, review is granted only if the challenged appellate decision conflicts with existing precedent or involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b).

The instant case does not satisfy these criteria. The Court of Appeals' decision reflects the plain mandate of RCW 36.70C and is consistent with all relevant case law. No reported Washington case (and certainly none cited by Schnitzer) recognizes LUPA jurisdiction for local zoning enactments that are legislatively initiated by a city council rather than requested by a specific project permit applicant. All relevant authority instead supports the Court of Appeals' conclusion that local code amendments of this type are not "land use decisions" under LUPA. Supreme Court review of this case is unwarranted under RAP 13.4(b).

5.1 Ordinance No. 3067 Is Not a Land Use Decision Under LUPA.

A superior court's subject matter jurisdiction under LUPA is expressly limited to reviewing a local government's "land use decision". RCW 36.70C.030. A land use decision is defined as a municipality's binding administrative disposition on a project applicant's site-specific development proposal:

"Land use decision" means a *final determination* by a local jurisdiction's body or officer with the highest level of authority to make the determination... on:

(a) An *application* for a *project permit* or other governmental approval required by law before real property may be improved, developed, modified, sold, transferred, or used[.]

RCW 36.70C.020(2) (emphasis added).

1.000

The term "project permit" as used in RCW 36.70C.020(2) likewise refers exclusively to *project-specific* land use approvals, as distinct from legislative enactments that establish generally applicable regulations:

"Project permit". . . means any land use or environmental *permit or license* required from a local government for a *project action*, including but not limited to building permits, subdivisions, binding site plans, planned unit developments, conditional uses, shoreline substantial development permits, site plan review, permits or approvals required by critical area ordinances, *site-specific rezones* authorized by a comprehensive plan or subarea plan, *but excluding the* adoption or amendment of a comprehensive plan, subarea plan, or *development regulations* except as otherwise specifically included in this subsection.

RCW 36.70B.020(4) (emphasis added).

As the Court of Appeals concluded, Ordinance No. 3067 is not a land use decision under this definition for a basic, singular reason: The ordinance is not, and does not purport to be, the City of Puyallup's "final determination" on "an application for a project permit or other governmental approval". RCW 36.70C.020(2)(a). Enactment of Ordinance No. 3067 was self-initiated by the Puyallup City Council and did not result from a project permit application or any other site-specific approval request. CP 205. There is no reference whatsoever to any such "application" for a "project action" in the ordinance, much less any suggestion that the enactment was intended to serve as the City's "final determination" in this regard. CP 205-11. See. e.g. Samuel's Furniture, Inc. v. State Dept. of Ecology, 147 Wn.2d 440, 452, 54 P.3d 1194 (2002) (a "final determination" under LUPA is one that "reaches the merits and terminates the *permit process*") (emphasis added). Without a specific project permit application, there can be no final determination—and thus, no reviewable "land use decision" under LUPA.

No reported Washington authority has ever recognized LUPA jurisdiction in this context without the requisite development application by a

site-specific project permit applicant. The Court of Appeals' decision reflects this judicial consensus. Schnitzer's contrary argument disregards the "application" requirement of RCW 36.70C.020 in violation of the most basic principles of statutory construction, *see, e.g., Ralph v. Dept. of Natural Resources*, 182 Wn.2d 242, 248, 343 P.3d 342 (2014) (courts must interpret statutes to give effect to all words), and invites the type of jurisdictional encroachment under LUPA that Washington Courts have expressly forbidden:

A superior court may not expand its statutory authority by varying LUPA's definition of a land use decision. Nor may the superior court expand its authority in a LUPA action by reviewing that which the legislature, in enacting LUPA, did not allocate to the court the authority to review.

Durland v. San Juan County, 175 Wn. App. 316, 324, 305 P.3d 246 (2013) (citation and internal punctuation omitted) (emphasis added), *aff'd*, 182 Wn.2d 55, 340 P.3d 191 (2014). This invitation was properly declined by the Court of Appeals.

5.2 Ordinance No. 3067 Is Not a Site-Specific Rezone.

The Court of Appeals' determination that Ordinance No. 3067 is not a site-specific rezone, *Schnitzer*, at 11, is also accordant with all relevant Washington authority. "A site-specific rezone is a <u>change in the zone</u> <u>designation</u> of <u>a specific tract</u> at the <u>request of specific parties</u>." *Kittitas County v. Kittitas County Conservation Coalition*, 176 Wn. App. 38, 50, 308 P.3d 745 (2013) (emphasis added) (citation and internal punctuation omitted); *see also Woods*, 162 Wn.2d at 611 n.7. Ordinance No. 3067 does not meet this definition.

5.2.1 Enactment of Ordinance No. 3067 did not result from the request of any specific party.

Certain types of site-specific rezones are indeed included by implication within the statutory definition of a "land use decision" under LUPA. See RCW 36.70C.020(2); RCW 36.70B.020(4). However, reclassifications of this type—like all other categories of local land use approvals governed by LUPA—constitute "land use decisions" under the statute <u>only</u> if they represent the municipality's "final determination" on a project-specific "application". *Id*. The code amendments contained in Ordinance No. 3067 were proposed by the City itself and thus did not originate from the "request" of Schnitzer or any other "specific parties." *CP* 205.

Schnitzer's mischaracterization of Ordinance No. 3067 as a sitespecific rezone relies upon *Woods v. Kittitas County*, 162 Wn.2d 597, 174 P.3d 25 (2007), *Kittitas County v. Kittitas County Conservation Coalition*, 176 Wn. App. 38, 308 P.3d 745 (2013), and *Spokane County v. Eastern Washington Growth Management Hearings Board*, 176 Wn. App. 555, 309

P.3d 673 (2013). Petition for Review at 13-17. The Court of Appeals,

however, accurately recognized that these cases are inapposite:

Schnitzer fails to reconcile one aspect that is universally true in each case it cites, but is not true here. In each case on which Schnitzer relies, the site-specific rezone. . . was requested by a specific party and either approved or denied by the local government entity involved.

Schnitzer, at 10. As the *Schnitzer* Court correctly determined, the absence of a "request" from a "specific party" categorically removes any suggestion that Ordinance No. 3067 is a site-specific rezone.⁶

Schnitzer does not, and cannot, cite any Washington authority that conflicts with this holding. The company instead contends—absurdly—that the Puyallup City Council itself "requested" Ordinance No. 3067 and was thus a permit "applicant" for purposes of RCW 36.70C.020(2)(a). Petition for Review at 13. The Court of Appeals gave this argument appropriately short thrift, responding that "[a] public agency does not apply for a permit to itself nor does it apply for approval of its own action". *Schnitzer*, at 8. As the Court further noted, "Schnitzer does not point to any document in the record purporting to be the 'application' by the City to initiate consideration of

⁶ Schnitzer correctly notes that site-specific rezones authorized by a local comprehensive plan are subject to LUPA jurisdiction, while site-specific rezones requiring a comprehensive plan amendment are not. Petition for Review at 14-17. See RCW 36.70B.020(4); RCW 36.70C.020(2)(a). But this point is ultimately a red herring for purposes of the instant case, where the challenged ordinance is not a site-specific rezone in the first instance.

matters under its own zoning code", and the company's attempt to characterize Ordinance No. 3067 as resulting from the "specific request or application by a specific party" necessarily fails as a result. *Id.*, at 10-11. No Washington precedent contradicts this commonsensical holding.

5.2.2 The reach of Ordinance No. 3067 is not confined to a specific tract.

Schnitzer's characterization of Ordinance No. 3067 as a site-specific rezone is further undermined by the geographic scope of the enactment. A site-specific rezone is by definition a zoning reclassification of "<u>a</u> specific tract". *Kittitas County*, 176 Wn. App. at 50 (emphasis added). A "tract" is defined under Washington land use law as synonymous with "lot" or "parcel". *See, e.g.*, RCW 58.17.020(9). By their terms, the text amendments adopted under Ordinance No. 3067 apply uniformly to the City's entire new ML-SPO overlay district. The reach of these amendments currently affects a large (20+ acre) area containing <u>multiple</u> parcels⁷, and the regulations adopted under the ordinance will apply to any other properties that may ultimately be added to the overlay area in the future. *CP 205-11*. The scope of Ordinance No. 3067 is not site-specific under this standard.

⁷ Schnitzer's assertion that Ordinance No. 3067 affected only "a single tract of property", Petition for Review at 1, 13, is simply false under this well-established standard.

5.3 Ordinance No. 3067 Is Not Subject to Review Under LUPA Because It Is a Legislative Enactment.

LUPA jurisdiction also does not extend to Ordinance No. 3067 because of its wholly legislative character. Even if the ordinance had been enacted in response to the requisite "application" (it was not), RCW 36.70C.020(2)(a) categorically excludes from LUPA jurisdiction all "applications for legislative approvals". *See, e.g., Horan v. City of Federal Way*, 110 Wn. App. 204, 39 P.3d 366 (2002); *Berst v. Snohomish County*, 114 Wn. App. 245, 253-54, 57 P.3d 273 (2002). A hallmark of legislative action is that it involves "the enactment of a new general law of prospective application." *Raynes v. City of Leavenworth*, 118 Wn.2d 237, 244-45, 821 P.2d 1204 (1992) (citation omitted).

Ordinance No. 3067 is unquestionably legislative under this standard, as it establishes a body of prospective, generally applicable land use regulations intended to govern all non-vested, unspecified future development within a designated zone. *CP 205-11*. The text amendments contained in the ordinance, *see CP 207-09*, are *per se* legislative in character. *See Raynes*, 118 Wn.2d at 248; *Citizens Alliance to Protect Our Wetlands v. City of Auburn*, 126 Wn.2d 356, 365-66, 894 P.2d 1300 (1995). Expansion of the City's SPO overlay to include additional areas, including the former Van Lierop property, is likewise area-wide—and thus legislative—as a matter of law because the amendment affects more than one tract and did not result from the request of a specific party. *See Kittitas County*, 176 Wn. App. at 50. As Washington courts have long held, the legislative character of an ordinance is not changed merely because the enactment presently "affects. . . a limited area and involves readily identifiable individuals." *Raynes*, 118 Wn.2d at 241, 247-49 (zoning amendment was legislative even where only two parcels were potentially affected). The fact that a particular code amendment "has a high impact on a few people does not alter the fundamental nature of the decision" as legislative. *Id.* at 249. LUPA jurisdiction does not extend to local policy measures of this type.⁸

5.4 Ordinance No. 3067 Is Appealable Exclusively To the Growth Management Hearings Board.

Finally, LUPA does not apply to "[1]and use decisions of a local jurisdiction that are subject to review by. . . the growth management hearings board." RCW 36.70C.030(1)(a)(ii); *Harrington v. Spokane County*, 128 Wn. App. 202, 213, 114 P.3d 1233 (2005). Where a challenged action is subject to review by the GMHB, that measure is "outside the scope of a LUPA petition."

⁸ Neither the Appearance of Fairness doctrine nor the motives of individual council members are relevant where a municipality acts in a legislative capacity. RCW 42.36.030; *Adult Entertainment Center, Inc. v. Pierce County*, 57 Wn. App. 435, 441, 788 P.2d 1102 (1990).

King County v. Central Puget Sound Growth Management Hearings Board, 91 Wn. App. 1, 26-28, 951 P.2d 1151 (1998).

Under the Growth Management Act (GMA), the GMHB has exclusive jurisdiction over challenges to local "development regulations". *See* RCW 36.70A.280(1)(a). "Development regulations" are defined in relevant part by the GMA as "the controls placed on development or land use activities by a county or city, including, but not limited to, zoning ordinances[.]" RCW 36.70A.030(7). The Puyallup Municipal Code amendments (e.g., architectural design standards, setback requirements, signage provisions stormwater requirements, etc.) contained in Ordinance No. 3067 are precisely the type of local "controls placed on development or land use activities" over which the GMHB has exclusive jurisdiction. *CP 205-11. See* RCW 36.70A.030(7); RCW 36.70A.280(1)(a).

The zoning map amendment expanding the City's SPO overlay district under Ordinance No. 3067 is also subject to the GMHB's exclusive purview. Where—as here—an amendment to a local zoning map is adopted concurrently with text amendments to the city's code, the <u>entire</u> enactment falls within the Growth Board's subject matter jurisdiction:

The Board holds that any action to amend... the text of a development regulation is a legislative action subject to the goals and requirements of RCW 36.70A, including the subject matter jurisdiction provisions of RCW

36.70A.280. Any amendment to the official zoning map that is proposed and processed concurrently with. . . development regulation text amendments is necessarily a legislative action subject to the goals and requirements of the GMA.

Bridgeport Way Community Ass'n v. City of Lakewood, CPSGMHB Case No. 04-3-0003, Final Decision & Order (July 14, 2004), at 8.⁹

The clarity of Washington law on this point belies Schnitzer's apocalyptic warning that challenges to enactments like Ordinance No. 3067 will somehow be orphaned and deprived of an appellate venue. Petition for Review at 17-19. Schnitzer's argument is also undermined by the company's own pending challenge of the ordinance before the GMHB—the correct forum for such appeals. Contrary to Schnitzer's assertion, there is no jurisprudential conflict, uncertainty or issue of substantial public importance implicated by this case.

VI. CONCLUSION

The Puyallup Municipal Code amendments enacted under Ordinance No. 3067 are the product of the City Council's self-initiated local legislative process and are subject to the exclusive review authority of the Growth Management Hearings Board. The ordinance does not purport to be a final

⁹ As the administrative tribunal charged with construing and implementing the Growth Management Act, the GMHB's interpretations of the GMA planning framework are afforded "substantial weight" by Washington courts. *See, e.g., Kittitas County v. E. Wash. Growth Mgmt. Hr*'gs Bd., 172 Wn.2d 144, 154, 256 P.3d 1193 (2011).

determination on any particular development application, and thus is not a site-specific rezone or any other type of land use decision under LUPA. The Court of Appeals' decision to this effect was well-reasoned and consistent with applicable precedent. Schnitzer does not, and cannot, demonstrate that the instant case satisfies any of the criteria enumerated at RAP 13.4(b), and its Petition should be denied.